COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER

AND

THE PUBLIC SERVICE ALLIANCE OF CANADA as represented by the Component of the PSAC

as represented by the Component of the PSAC
The Union of Northern Workers

EFFECTIVE: JANUARY 1, 2002 EXPIRES: DECEMBER 31, 2004

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE ■-PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT,	1
ARTICLE 2 - INTERPRETATION AND DEFINITIONS	1
ARTICLE 3 - UNION RECOGNITION	4
ARTICLE 4 - APPLICATION	4
ARTICLE 5 - NO DISCRIMINATION	5
ARTICLE 6 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	5
ARTICLE 7 - SAFETY AND HEALTH	5
ARTICLE 8 - CONFLICT OF INTEREST	6
ARTICLE 9 - EMPLOYER DIRECTIVES	6
ARTICLE 10 - WORK SLOW-DOWN, INTERRUPTION OR STOPPAGE	6
ARTICLE 11 - COMPULSORY CHECK OFF	6
ARTICLE 12 - UNION REPRESENTATION	7
ARTICLE 13 - INFORMATION FOR EMPLOYEES AND THE UNION	9
ARTICLE 14 - GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION	9
ARTICLE 15 – SENIORITY	12
ARTICLE 15 – SENIORITYARTICLE 16 – APPOINTMENTS, PROMOTIONS AND TRANSFERS	14
ARTICLE 17 – CLASSIFICATION	15
ARTICLE 18 - EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE REVIEW AND EMPLOYEE.	16
ARTICLE 19 - JOB SECURITY, LAY-OFF AND RECALL TO SERVICE	17
ARTICLE 20 - HOURS OF WORK	19
ARTICLE 21 – OVERTIME	20
ARTICLE 22 - PAY ADMINISTRATION	21
ARTICLE 23 - PAID STATUTORY HOLIDAYS	23
ARTICLE 24 – VACATIONS	24
ARTICLE 25 - SICK LEAVEARTICLE 26 - SPECIAL AND OTHER LEAVE	28
ARTICLE 26 - SPECIAL AND OTHER LEAVE	30
ARTICLE 27 - LIFE, ACCIDENTAL DEATH & DISMEMBERMENTAND	
LONG TERM DISABILITY INSURANCE PLANS	34
ARTICLE 28 TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE	35
ARTICLE 29 – ALLOWANCES	36
ARTICLE 30 – LABOUR-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS COMMITTEE	36
ARTICLE 31 – SECURITY	37
ARTICLE 32 - CASUAL EMPLOYEES	37
ARTICLE 33 - SAFETY EQUIPMENT AND UNIFORMS	37
ARTICLE 34 - DUTY TRAVEL	38
ARTICLE 35 – CIVIL LIABILITY	39
ARTICLE 36 – APPRENTICES	39
ARTICLE 37 - TERM AND DURATION OF AGREEMENT	40

APPENDIX " A - RATE OF PAY SCHEDULES AND POSITION TITLES APPENDIX "B" - RATES OF PAY	
SCHEDULE OF ENTITLEMENTS BY EMPLOYEE CATEGORY	
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING- BY-LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER	57
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING - CASUAL SUMMER STUDENT	
EMPLOYMENT,	60
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING - SICK LEAVE BONUS	62
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING - FOURTH DIRECTOR POSITION.	63

ARTICLE 1 - PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT

- 1.01 The purpose of this Agreement is to maintain harmonious and mutually beneficial relationships between the Employer, the employees and the Union; to set forth certain terms and conditions of employment relating to pay, hours of work, employee benefits, and general working conditions affecting employees covered by this Agreement and to ensure that all reasonable measures are provided for the safety and occupational health of the employees.
- 1.02 The parties to this Agreement share a desire to improve the quality, to promote well-being and increase the productivity of the employees to the end that the Employer will be well and efficiently served. Accordingly the parties are determined to establish, within the framework provided by law, an effective working relationship at all levels in which members of the bargaining unit are employed.

ARTICLE 2 - INTERPRETATION AND DEFINITIONS

- 2.01 For the purpose of this Agreement:
 - (a) "Bargaining Unit" means employees occupying positions in the classifications as shown in Appendix "A, Parts I and II.
 - (b) "Classification" means a group of positions having sufficiently similar duties, responsibilities, authority and required qualifications that a common descriptive title may be used.
 - (c) "Continuous employment" means uninterrupted employment with the Employer, except that where an employee, other than a casual employee, ceases to be employed for a reason other than dismissal, abandonment of position, or rejection on probation, and is reemployed within a period of three months, the employee's periods of employment for the purpose of vacation leave shall be considered as continuous employment with the Employer; and any sick leave credits accumulated prior to termination shall be reinstated to the employee's credit.
 - (d) "Day" means working day, unless otherwise specified.
 - (e) "Day of Rest" in relation to an employee means a day on which that employee is not ordinarily required to perform the duties of the employee's position. Such days do not include a holiday or days that the employee is absent on approved leave.
 - (f) "Department Head" means the head of a department (unit) and includes the person designated by the Department Head so to act.

- (g) "Double Time" means two (2) times the straight-time rate.
- (h) "Employee" means a person employed by the Employer on either a full-time or part-time (less than the standard day, week or month) basis, who comes within the scope of the Bargaining Unit as either:
 - (i) a permanent employee means a person employed in a permanent position;
 - (ii) a probationary employee see Article 2(r);
 - (iii) a seasonal employee means a person employed in work of a seasonal nature, which is not continuous throughout the year, but recurs in successive years;
 - (iv) a casual employee means an employee:
 - A) who is employed for work of a temporary nature; or
 - B) who is regularly scheduled for four (4) months or less for a specific job; or
 - C) who relieves for absences for the duration of four (4) months or less; or
 - D) who works on a call-in basis and is not regularly scheduled.
 - (v) a "term employee" means an employee who is hired on a term basis for a full time or part time position:
 - A) for a specific job of more than four (4) calendar months but less than one (1) year; or
 - B) to replace a full time or part time employee who is on approved leave of absence for a period in excess of four (4) calendar months; or
 - C) to replace a full time or part time employee who is on leave due to illness or injury and where that employee has indicated to the employer in writing the duration of such leave will be in excess of four (4) months.
- (i) "Employer" means the Town of Hay River.
- "Grievance" means a complaint in writing that an employee, a group of employees, or the Union submits to the Employer, or the Employer submits to the Union to be processed through the grievance procedure.

- (k) "Half-Day" means the A.M. or P.M. of a normal working day or half of the total hours of normal shift work per shift day whichever is less.
- (I) "Holiday" means the twenty-four (24) hour period commencing at 12.01 a.m. of a day designated as a paid holiday in this Agreement.
- (m) "Immediate Family" means father, mother, brother, sister, spouse (including common-law), child or ward, father-in-law, mother-in-law, grandparent, grandchild, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law of an employee, or a relative permanently residing in the employee's household or with whom the employee permanently resides.
- (n) "Lay-off' means the termination of employment of an employee due to lack of work or the discontinuance of a function.
- (o) "Membership Dues" means the dues established pursuant to the constitution of the Union as the dues payable by its members as a consequence of their membership in the Union and shall not include any initiation fee, insurance premium or special levy.
- (p) "Overtime" means work performed by an employee in excess of eight (8) hours of work per day for operational employees and seven and one-half (7½) hours per day for administration employees, or work performed on a day of rest.
- (q) "Position" means an aggregation of duties, tasks and responsibilities requiring the services of one employee.
- (r) "Probation" means the probationary period on initial appointment for either seasonal or permanent positions. The normal probationary period for a regular employee shall be four (4) months from the date on which an employee reports for work and for a seasonal employee the probationary period shall be two (2) months from the date on which an employee reports for work.

However, provided the Employer has reasonable grounds for doing so, it may extend the aforementioned probationary periods for an additional two (2) months. If durin the robationary period, an employee's performance is judge to e unsatisfactory, the Employer shall provide notice, in writing, to the employee prior to the expiry of the probationary period.

Probationary employees shall be entitled to sick leave and bereavement leave.

If during the probationary period an employee applies and is successful in another position competition, the employee will be required to serve a four (4) month probationary period in the new

- position. The probationary employee will, however, be entitled to full benefits four (4) months from the date on which the employee initially commenced employment with the Employer.
- (s) "Promotion" means the appointment of an employee to a position which has a higher maximum rate of pay than the employee's present position.
- (t) "Straight-time Rate" means an employee's hourly rate of pay as specified in Appendix "A".
- (u) "Time and one-half' means one and one-half (1½) times the straight-time rate.
- (v) "Union" means the Public Service Alliance of Canada and its Component, the Union of Northern Workers'.
- 2.02 (i) "daily rate of pay" means an employee's hourly rate of pay multiplied by the employee's daily hours of work as set out in Article 21;
 - (ii) "weekly rate of pay" means an employee's daily rate of pay multiplied by five (5);
 - (iii) "bi-weekly rate of pay" means an employee's daily of pay multiplied by ten (10);
 - (iv) "annual rate of pay" means an employee's weekly rate of pay multiplied by 52.176;
 - (v) "monthly rate of pay" means an employee's annual rate of pay divided by twelve (12).
- 2.03 Wherever the masculine gender is specified in this Agreement, it shall be interpreted as including both male and female employees as applicable.

ARTICLE 3 - UNION RECOGNITION

3.01 The Employer recognizes the Union, as defined in 2.01 (v), as the exclusive bargaining agent for those employees described in the Canada Labour Relations Board's certificate dated September 6, 1985.

ARTICLE 4 - APPLICATION

4.01 The provisions of this Agreement apply to the Union, employees and the Employer.

ARTICLE 5 - NO DISCRIMINATION

5.01 The Employer and the Union agree that there shall be no discrimination by either party against any employee because of race, creed, colour, age, sex, nationality, ancestry, place of origin, political affiliation, religious affiliation, marital status, sexual orientation, disability, union membership or union activity.

ARTICLE 6 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- 6.01 Except to the extent provided herein, this Agreement in no way restricts the authority of those charged with managerial responsibilities.
- 6.02 (1) Management personnel shall not perform the duties of bargaining unit members unless such members are not readily available to do the job or unless the circumstances of the job are such that a failure to carry out the task immediately could result in a serious impairment to municipal services.
 - The parties agree that the restriction in (1) hereof does not limit management's rights to operate equipment and perform tasks normally operated or performed by bargaining unit members when the purpose of such operation or performance is for inspection or training purposes.

ARTICLE 7 - SAFETY AND HEALTH

- 7.01 The Employer shall continue to make every reasonable effort to maintain all equipment and facilities directly relating to the occupational safety and health of its employees, in a good state of repair.
- 7.02 Employees who have sustained a disabling injury at work during the normally scheduled hours of work and are unable to return that day due to the injury shall be paid for the straight time hours that they would have worked that day.
- 7.03 When purchasing new computer equipment or other technology, the Employer shall consider factors of ergonomic design and the risk of employment injury.
- 7.04 An employee shall have the right to refuse work in the situations set out in the 'Safety Act'.

ARTICLE 8 - CONFLICT OF INTEREST

- 8.01 No employee may undertake any business or employment outside the employee's regularly scheduled hours of duty, if:
 - there is a conflict between the duties the employee is required to perform in that business or employment and the duties the employee is required to perform for the Employer; and/or
 - (b) the employee exploits, either directly or indirectly, any confidential information the employee has acquired in the course of the employee's employment with the Employer; and/or
 - the performance of the employee's duties in the outside business or employment impacts adversely on the performance of the duties the employee is required to fulfil for the Employer.
- 8.02 Upon the Employer notifying the employee in writing that the employee must cease the outside business or employment, for any of the reasons cited in Article 8.01, the employee must take immediate steps to abide by that direction. If the employee does not cease outside activities within thirty (30) calendar days, or any longer period of time as mutually agreed to between the Employer, the Union and the employee, the employee may be discharged for cause. Any disagreement arising from the application of this article may be grieved in accordance with Article 14.

ARTICLE 9 - EMPLOYER DIRECTIVES

9.01 The Employer shall provide the Union with a copy of those Personnel Directives directly affecting employees of the Bargaining Unit. Where the Employer proposes to issue a Personnel Directive which is intended to clarify the interpretation or apdication of the Collective Agreement, the Employer shall consult with the Union prior to issuing the directives.

ARTICLE 10 -WORK SLOW-DOWN, INTERRUPTION OR STOPPAGE

10.01 The Employer shall not cause or direct any lockout of employees during the life of this agreement; and the Union shall not authorize or in any way encourage any strike, walkout, suspension of work, or slow down on the part of any employee or group of employees during the life of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 11 - COMPULSORY CHECK OFF

11.01 The Employer agrees to deduct from the wages of each employee in the unit affected by the collective agreement, whether or not the employee is a

- member of the Union, an amount equal to the monthly amount of the membership dues and to remit the amount to the Union.
- 11.02 The Union shall inform the Employer in writing of the authorized monthly membership dues deduction or payment in lieu thereof to be checked off for each employee in the bargaining unit, pursuant to Article 11.01. The amount so advised shall continue to be the amount so deducted until changed by further written notice to the Employer signed by an authorized representative of the Union. Upon receipt of such notice, such changed amount shall be the amount deducted.
- 11.03 Deductions shall be made monthly in the second payroll period of each month, provided the employee has received a minimum of twenty (20) hours pay in respect of that month, and membership dues or payments in lieu thereof shall be considered as owing in the month for which they are so deducted.
- 11.04 The amounts deducted in accordance with this Article shall be remitted to the Comptroller of the Union in the month following their deduction and shall be accompanied by particulars identifying each employee and the deductions made on the employee's behalf.
- 11.05 The Union agrees to indemnify and save the Employer harmless against any claim or liability arising out of the application of this article except for any claim or liability arising out of an error committed by the Employer limited to the amount actually involved in the error.
- 11.06 The Employer agrees to identify annually on each employee's T-4 slip the total amount of Union dues deducted for the preceding year.

ARTICLE 12 - UNION REPRESENTATION

- 12.01 The Employer acknowledges the right of the Union to appoint two employees as representatives and, in their absence, two alternates. The Employer shall be advised by letter of the names of those so appointed before they are recognized.
- 12.02 (1) Any representative who is an employee shall first obtain the permission of the employee's immediate supervisor before leaving work to investigate a complaint or grievance raised by an employee; to meet with local management for the purpose of dealing with a complaint or grievance; and to attend meetings called by management. Such permission shall not be unreasonably withheld. The immediate supervisor of the representative is to be advised upon the representative's return to duty.
 - (2) The Employer will grant leave without loss of regular pay to Employees who are party to a grievance to attend the Arbitration Hearing.

- 12.03 Where operational requirements permit, the Employer shall grant time off to not more than *two* (2) employees who are attending meetings arranged with management on behalf of the Union. Where such meetings are held during the scheduled working hours of the employees involved, there will be no deduction from their pay for such hours.
- 12.04 Where operational requirements permit, the EmDloyer shall grant reasonable leave without pay to not more than two (2l employees at any one time to attend Executive meetings, conventions or training courses of the Union.
- 12.05 An accredited representative of the Union shall be permitted access to the Employer's premises upon prior approval by the Employer to attend meetings and assist in resolution of complaints and grievances. Approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.

Notification Agreements

- 12.06 (1) Where this Agreement requires notice to be given between the parties to this Agreement, such notice shall be in writing, and mailing of such notice by ordinary mail shall be deemed to be effective notice unless the Agreement specifically requires another mode of delivery or service.

Town of Hay River 73 Woodland Drive Hay River, NT X0E 1G1 Attention: Town Manager

(3) Unless and until the Employer is notified by the Union of a change, notice to the Union shall be addressed to:

Public Service Alliance of Canada P.O. Box 637 4916-49th Street Yellowknife. NT X1A 2N5

12.07 Leave of absence without pay may be granted for one (1) employee for a maximum period of one (1) year, to allow that employee to work for the Union on a full-time basis. Any request for such leave must be made in writing and must involve reasonable advance notice to the Employer. During the period of such a leave, the employee's seniority shall be retained but shall not accrue.

ARTICLE 13 - INFORMATION FOR EMPLOYEES AND THE UNION

- 13.01 The Employer agrees to provide bulletin board space for the posting of notices pertaining to Union elections, appointments, meetings, new items and social and recreational affairs. It is understood that the bulletin board space shall not be for the sole use of the Union.
- 13.02 The Employer shall provide each employee with a copy of this Agreement within sixty (60) calendar days of its signing, and the cost of publishing the Agreement shall be split 50/50 between the Employer and the Union.
- 13.03 The Employer shall provide to all new employees a copy of this Agreement upon commencement of employment.
- 13.04 (I) Within five (5) days of hiring a new bargaining unit employee, the Employer shall advise, in writing, the Union Representative of the classification, name, address, home phone number and Social Insurance Number of that employee.
 - (2) Notwithstanding Clause 13.04(a), where an employee does not authorize the Employer to provide the Union Representative with the employee's home address, home phone number and/or Social Insurance Number, the employee shall so indicate, in writing, to the Employer and the Employer shall abide by those instructions.

ARTICLE 14 - GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION

- 14.01 (I) The Employer and the Union recognize that grievances may arise in each of the following circumstances:
 - (a) By the interpretation or application of a provision of this Collective Agreement or any Employer Personnel Directive which is intended to clarify the interpretation or application of this Collective Agreement;
 - (b) Disciplinary action resulting in demotion, suspension, or a financial penalty;
 - (c) Dismissal or discharge;
 - (d) Letters of discipline placed on a Personnel file;
 - (2) The procedure for the final resolutions of grievances is arbitration.
 - (3) The parties to this Agreement share the desire to settle all grievances expeditiously and equitably as they arise. An employee

shall be free at all times, with or without the assistance of a Union representative, to discuss and settle with the employee's supervisor, any complaint that the employee has.

- 14.02 An employee may be assisted and represented by the Union when presenting a grievance at any level.
- 14.03 An employee who wishes to present a grievance shall provide the grievance to the Employee's Department Head, any other Department Head or the Town Manager, who shall:
 - (a) forward the grievance to the appropriate Employer representative; and
 - (b) provide the employee with a receipt stating the date on which the grievance was received by the Employer.
- 14.04 Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement a grievance shall be processed by recourse to the following steps:
 - (a) First Level (Department Head)
 - (b) Second Level (Town Manager)
 - (c) Third Level (Arbitration)
- 14.05 The Employer shall post a notice indicating the names of all Department Heads. These notices shall be posted in places where they are most likely to come to the attention of the employees in the Bargaining Unit.
- 14.06 The Union shall have the right to consult with the Employer with respect to a grievance at each level of the grievance procedure.
- 14.07 An employee may present a grievance to the First Level of the procedure in the manner prescribed in Article 14.03 not later than the fifteenth (15) calendar day after the date on which the employee is notified orally or in writing or on which the employee became aware of the circumstances giving rise to the grievance.
- 14.08 The Employer shall reply in writing to an employee's grievance within ten (10) calendar days at the First Level and within ten (10) calendar days at the Second Level.
- 14.09 An employee may present a grievance at each succeeding level in the grievance process beyond the First Level:
 - where the decision or settlement is not satisfactory to the employee, within ten (10) working days after the decision or settlement has been conveyed in writing to the employee by the Employer; or

- (b) where the Employer has not conveyed a decision to the employee within the time prescribed in Article 14.08, within ten (10) working days after the day the reply was due.
- 14.10 Where an employee has been represented by the Union in the presentation of the employee's grievance, the Employer shall provide the appropriate representative of the Union with a copy of the Employer's decision at each level of the grievance procedure at the same time that the Employer's decision is conveyed to the employee.
- 14.11 No employee shall be dismissed without first being given notice in writing together with the reasons for the dismissal. When the Employer dismisses an employee the grievance procedure shall apply except that the grievance shall be presented at the Second Level.
- 14.12 The Union shall have the right to initiate and present a grievance on matters relating to health and safety and on matters relating to the application or interpretation of the Agreement on behalf of one or more members of the Union to either level of the grievance procedure within the time limits specified in this Article.
- 14.13 An employee shall have the right to present a grievance on matters relating to the application or interpretation of this Agreement provided the employee first obtains the authorization of the Union prior to presenting such grievance.
- 14.14 An employee may, by written notice, withdraw a grievance provided that, where the grievance is one arising out of the application or interpretation of this Agreement, and the employee's withdrawal has the endorsement of the Union.
- 14.15 The time limits stipulated in this procedure may be extended by mutual agreement in writing between the Employer and the employee, and where appropriate, the Union representative. Grievances which are not brought forward or advanced within the time limits set out in this procedure shall be deemed abandoned.
- 14.16 No proceedings under this Article are invalid by reason of any defect d form or any technical irregularity.
- 14.17 Where an employee is required to attend a meeting with the Employer where disciplinary action is to be imposed, the employee shall be advised at least twelve (12) hours in advance of the meeting of the employee's right to have a union representative attend the meeting.
- 14.18 Where a grievance has been presented at the Second level in the grievance procedure and the grievance has not been resolved, the grievance may be referred to arbitration within thirty (30) days.

- 14.19 (I) The parties agree that arbitration referred to in 14.18 shall be by a single arbitrator.
 - If an arbitrator selected by mutual agreement of the parties is not available for a hearing date within thirty (30) days of the date on which notification by either party to submit the difference to arbitration was made, another name will be selected until an arbitrator is found to hear the parties within the above mentioned thirty (30) day period.
 - In the event that the Employer and the Union are unable to agree upon the selection of an arbitrator, the Minister of Labour of Canada shall be requested to appoint an arbitrator, and it is agreed that the arbitrator so appointed shall act as the single arbitrator.
- 14.20 (1) The arbitrator has all of the powers granted to arbitrators under the Canada Labour Code Part I in addition to any powers which are contained in this Agreement.
 - The arbitrator shall hear and determine the difference or allegation and shall issue a decision and the decision is final and binding upon the parties and upon any employee affected by it.
 - (3) The award of the arbitrator shall be signed by the arbitrator and copies thereof shall be transmitted to the parties to the dispute.
- 14.21 The arbitrator shall not have the authority to alter or amend any of the provisions of this Agreement, or to substitute any new provisions in lieu thereof, or to render any decision contrary to the terms and provisions of this Agreement, or to increase or decrease wages.
- 14.22 The Employer and the Union shall pay its own costs and expenses of the arbitration, and one-half of the remuneration and expenses of the arbitrator.

ARTICLE 15 - SENIORITY

- 15.01 Seniority shall be established on the basis of length of unbroken service within the bargaining unit.
- 15.02 New employees hired for permanent positions within the bargaining unit shall be considered probationary employees in accordance with Article 2(r) herein. During their respective probationary periods, such employees shall have no seniority rights, However, after the successful completion of the applicable probationary period, the employee's seniority shall date back to the date on which such service began.
- 15.03 Employees shall lose their seniority standing and their status as an employee under any of the following conditions:

- (a) The employee voluntarily terminates their employment;
- (b) The employee is discharged for just cause;
- (c) Except in extenuating circumstances if the employee is absent without leave for three consecutive working days or gives no reasonable grounds for not being able to report for duty upon their return to work:
- (d) Except in extenuating circumstances if the employee does not return and report for work on the day following completion of the employee's approved leave of absence, unless for reasonable grounds the employee is unable to do so and the employee notifies the Em loyer by telephone' telegram or facsimile as soon as is practica le;
- (e) Absence due to lay-off for a period equal to the employee's seniority if the seniority of that employee is less than twelve (12) months;
- (f) Absence due to lay-off for a period in excess of twelve (12) consecutive months if the employee's seniority is one (1) year or greater.

For purposes of subclauses (e) and (f) above, a recall of less than ten (I0) consecutive working days shall not be deemed to interrupt an absence due to lay-off.

- 15.04 Only those employees who have achieved permanent full-time and permanent part-time employee status, are entitled to claim the rights and benefits arising out of seniority. Permanent part-time employees are eligible for these benefits on a pro-rata basis.
- 15.05 The Employer shall maintain a seniority list containing the following information:
 - (a) Employee's Name
 - (b) Date from which the employee's seniority is calculated.
 - (c) Employee's current job title and level.

The Employer shall maintain a seniority list showing the date upon which each employee's service commenced. A cony of the seniority list shall be posted on all bulletin boards and sent to the Union and shall be kept up-to-date by the Employer. Any objection to the accuracy of a posted seniority list must be lodged with the Employer in writing during the fifteen days in which the list is posted. Thereafter, the posted list will be deemed to be valid and correct for all purposes.

- 15.06 An employee transferred or promoted to a position which is excluded from the bargaining unit shall, in the event of the employee's subsequent return to the bargaining unit, be reinstated on the seniority list as if the employee had remained in the bargaining unit.
- 15.07 When two (2) or more employees are hired by the Employer on the same calendar date and when mutual agreement cannot be reached among the Employer, the Union, and the employees in question, then seniority shall be determined by chance i.e., by flip of the coin.

ARTICLE 16 - APPOINTMENTS, PROMOTIONS AND TRANSFERS

- 16.01 Where the Employer determines that a permanent vacancy exists in a classification to which this agreement applies, it will give present employees every reasonable opportunity to apply by posting a bulletin giving pertinent details of the position and inviting interested and qualified employees to apply for the position. The notice shall be posted on all bulletin boards for a minimum of five (5) calendar days. The Employer is not required to consider applications submitted after the posting period has expired.
- 16.02 Appointments to posted positions shall be made on the basis of qualifications, performance, ability and experience. When two (2) or more candidates satisfy the aforesaid requirements seniority shall govern.
- 16.03 The name of the successful candidate shall be provided to the Union and all unsuccessful bargaining unit candidates upon the completion of the selection process.

Unsuccessful candidates shall have five (5) working days from the date of notification to initiate a grievance on the selection at the Second Level of the grievance procedure.

Trial Period

- 16.04 Any permanent bargaining unit employee selected to fill a vacancy or a new job shall be on a trial period for twenty (20) working days. During this trial period, the employee must demonstrate that they can satisfy the requirements of the job, to the satisfaction of the Employer.
 - Any probationary bargaining unit employee selected to fill a vacancy or a new job shall be on a probationary period for four (4) months in the new position. During this probationary period, the employee must demonstrate that the employee can satisfy the requirements of the job, to the satisfaction of the Employer.
- 16.05 Should the employee be unable to satisfy the requirements of the job, or should the employee decide that they do not want to continue in the job at any time during the trial period, then the employee shall be returned to their former job at the wage rate the employee previously earned in the former

job, plus any increments to which the employee would have otherwise been entitled had the employee not been promoted. The Employer shall have the right to require all other employees who changed 'ob positions to move back into the job positions and salary scales (plus any applicable increments) which they occupied previously.

Pay on Promotion

- 16.06 When an employee is promoted, the employee shall receive:
 - (a) the minimum rate of pay for the new group where the employee's rate of pay prior to promotion is less than the minimum rate of pay for the new group: or
 - the rate of pay for the new group which is closest to, but not less than, the employee's rate of pay prior to promotion where the employee's rate of pay prior to promotion is more than the minimum rate of pay for that group.

Vacancies During Recruiting And Temporary Job Vacancies

- 16.07 During the selection process and for temporary job vacancies, the Employer may fill job vacancies by reassigning or transferring employees, recalling employees from lay-off, or engaging casual employees. Temporary job vacancies shall mean vacancies resulting from injury, sickness and/or illness, vacations or leaves of absence.
- 16.08 Where an employee is temporarily appointed to a position outside of the bargaining unit, the employee will not thereby forfeit their status, rights and entitlements under this Agreement.

ARTICLE 17 - CLASSIFICATION

- 17.01 Any new classification plan shall not be implemented except with the Union's agreement.
- 17.02 Upon written request, an employee shall be entitled to a complete and current Statement of Duties and Responsibilities of the employee's position, including the position's classification level and point rating allotted by factor, where applicable.
- 17.03 Benchmark position descriptions are set out in the Employer's Job Evaluation Manual dated August 1981, and reviewed December 1989 and May 1995.
- 17.04 When an employee occupies a position in a classification which is reclassified, resulting in its inclusion in a group having a higher maximum rate of pay, the employee shall receive:

- (a) the minimum rate of pay for the new group where the employee's present rate of pay is less than the minimum rate of pay for that group; or
- (b) the rate of pay for the new group which is closest to, but not less than, the employee's present rate of pay where the employee's present rate of pay is more than the minimum rate of pay for that group.
- 17.05 Where an employee occupies a position in a classification which is reclassified resulting in its inclusion in a group having a lower maximum rate of pay, the employee shall be 'salary protected' and shall continue to receive all economic increases.
- 17.06 Any disagreement arising from the application of this Article may be grieved in accordance with Article 14.

New Classifications

- 17.07 (1) Rates of pay for new classification, which come within the scope of this Agreement and are created during the term of this Agreement shall be negotiated with the Union. However, if a satisfactory conclusion to negotiations has not been reached within ten (10) working days of the date of notice by the Employer to the Union of the creation of said classification, any vacancy in this classification can be bulletined according to the rate of pay set out by the Employer.
 - (2) In the event that said vacancy is bulletined prior to satisfactory conclusion of negotiations, the rate of pay for the classification of the position shall still be a matter of negotiation and in the event that the parties agree to a rate which differs from the rate originally proposed by the Employer, the new rate shall be retroactive to the date of appointment of any employee to the new position. If agreement cannot be reached within two (2) months of the commencement of negotiations for this purpose, either party may remit this matter to arbitration, pursuant to Article 14.

ARTICLE 18-EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE REVIEW AND EMPLOYEE FILES

18.01 When a formal assessment of an employee's performance is made, the employee concerned must be given an opportunity to sign the assessment form in question upon its completion to indicate that its contents have been read. The employee shall also be given the opportunity to provide written comments to be attached to the employee's performance appraisal. A copy of the assessment form shall be provided to the employee. An employee shall be given the chance to discuss the performance appraisal with the appropriate management representative and the employee's immediate supervisor.

- 18.02 The Employer agrees not to introduce as evidence in a hearing any document from the file of an employee relating to disciplinary action, the existence of which the employee was not aware of at the time of filing or within a reasonable period thereafter.
- 18.03 Any document or written statement related to disciplinary action, which may have been placed on the Personnel file of an employee, shall be destroyed after two (2) years have elapsed since the disciplinary action was taken provided that no further disciplinary action has been recorded during this period.
- 18.04 The appropriate management representative shall assess an employee's performance with the assistance of the employee's immediate supervisor and must have observed the employee's performance for at least one-half (½) of the period for which the employee's performance is evaluated. In the event that the appropriate management representative and the employee's immediate supervisor have not observed the employee's performance for one-half (½) of the period, an Employer's representative in the best position to make the evaluation shall do so.
- 18.05 Upon written request of an employee, the Employer shall make that employee's personnel file available for the employee's examination at reasonable times in the presence of an authorized representative of the Employer.

ARTICLE 19 - JOB SECURITY, LAY-OFF AND RECALL TO SERVICE

- 19.01 The Employer shall take all reasonable steps to provide continued employment of a suitable nature to a permanent employee whose position has become redundant as a result of technological change, discontinuance of a function or other action initiated by the Employer.
- 19.02 (1) The Employer shall give all reasonable consideration to continued employment with the Employer of permanent employees who would otherwise become redundant because work is contracted out.
 - (2) The Employer shall consult with the Union concerning its plans to contract out work that would result in the loss of employment for bargaining unit employees.
 - (3) In the event that an employee's position becomes redundant through contracting out and if through the provisions of (a) and (b) hereof a new position cannot be found, the employee so displaced shall receive two (2) months notice or two (2) months pay in lieu of notice at the employee's current rate. If that employee elects to initiate the bumping process contemplated by 19.05 hereof, the most junior

employee who is bumped shall instead be given two (2) months notice or two (2) months pay in lieu of notice at the employee's then current rate.

- 19.03 In relation to the question of "reasonableness" for the administration of Articles 19.01 and 19.02, the Employer is entitled to include in its considerations the availability of funding, the availability of job vacancies, and the qualifications and abilities of the affected employees.
- 19.04 When a lay-off of permanent employees is necessary within **a** given job classification, the employee in the job classification with the least seniority will be the first employee subject to lay-off.
- 19.05 (1) A permanent employee subject to lay-off under Article 19.04 or an employee who is bumped under this clause, may apply to displace a more junior remaining employee in the same or lower classification within forty-eight (48) hours of the employee's receipt of written notice of lay-off or bumping, providing the employee has the necessary qualifications, skill and ability to do the job and has greater seniority than the employee they wish to bump.
 - (2) An employee may refuse to exercise the foregoing right without prejudicing their seniority rights in Article 15.03 (e) and (f). Once the employee has made their choice, the employee cannot later change their mind relative to that lay-off.
- 19.06 If an employee bumps into a lower wage **group**, the employee shall be paid at the rate of pay in the lower group not less than the employee's existing rate of pay and not greater than the maximum rate of pay for the lower wage group.
- 19.07 Where a function is to be discontinued and a permanent employee is to be laid off, the employee shall be given as much advance notice as possible, but, in any event, not less than two (2) weeks' notice in writing.
- 19.08 Where a permanent employee has been laid off, the employee shall be placed on a lay-off list for the period specified in 15.03 (e) and (f), and given preference for recall in any job classification for which the employee has the required qualifications, skill and ability.
- 19.09 The Employer shall recall permanent employees to a given classification in order of the seniority of the employees within that classification, provided that the employees still retain seniority pursuant to Article 15.03 (e) 15.03 (f) at the time of the call-back.
- 19.10 A laid-off permanent employee who wishes to be considered for recall must ensure that the Employer is made aware of where they can be contacted if the employee is not going to be available during any seventy-two (72) hour period Monday through Friday, at the address and phone number which is

on file with the Employer. Notice of recall will be made to the employee by telephone, registered mail or by direct personal contact. Employees will be given seventy-two ('72) hours from the time that contact was made or the alternative notice was transmitted by the Employer, in which to acknowledge receipt of the notice and indicate acceptance of the recall. Thereafter, the Employer may offer the recall to another eligible employee. The refusal of an employee to accept recall to such employment will not result in termination of seniority and will not prejudice the employee's right to another recall.

19.11 Permanent employees who have accepted a recall must report on the agreed date unless they are unable to do so for reasonable grounds.

Benefit Coverage

- 19.12 Benefit coverage for employees under the collective agreement ceases on the last day of the calendar month in which the lay-off occurs. None of the other provisions of this agreement which provide payment for time not actually at work (such as bereavement leave, sick leave, statutory holiday pay, vacations, etc.) apply to employees on lay-off.
- 19.13 Unless no laid off employee is qualified to perform the work, new employees shall not be hired until those laid off have been given the opportunity of recall.

ARTICLE 20 - HOURS OF WORK

- 20.01 Subject to Clause 20.03, the normal work week for full-time administrative employees shall be thirty-seven and one-half (37 ½) hours, Monday to Friday inclusive and the hours of work shall be scheduled so that employees work seven and one-half (7 ½) hours per working day, exclusive of lunch periods.
- 20.02 Subject to Clause 20.04, the normal work week for full-time operational employees shall be forty (40) hours, Monday to Friday inclusive, and the hours of work shall be scheduled so that employees work eight (8) hours per working day exclusive of lunch periods.
- 20.03 When, because of operational requirements of the Employer, hours of work are scheduled for administrative employees occupying positions on a rotating or irregular basis, they shall be scheduled so that the employees:
 - (a) on a weekly basis, work an average of thirty-seven and one-half (37 ½) hours and five (5) days per week; and
 - (b) on a daily basis work seven and one-half $(7 \frac{1}{2})$ hours per day.

- 20.04 When because of operational requirements of the Employer, hours of work are scheduled for operational employees occupying positions on a rotating or irregular basis, they shall be scheduled so that the employees:
 - (a) on a weekly basis, work an average of forty (40) hours and five (5) days per week; and
 - (b) on a daily basis work eight (8) hours per day.
- 20.05 (1) Employees shall have a lunch period of one (1) hour duration as close to the mid-point of the work day as possible.
 - (2) Employees engaged on a rotating shift work basis who are unable to leave the workplace for a meal break shall be allowed a one-half (½) hour meal period on paid time during which time they shall continue all necessary supervision of machinery and maintenance of services.

Rest Periods

- 20.06 (1) The Employer shall provide two (2) paid rest periods of fifteen (15) minutes each, commencing on or about mid-morning and midafternoon or the middle of the first half and the last half of a shift.
 - Notwithstanding Clause 20.06(1), for employees engaged on a rotating shift work basis on continuous operations, the Employer shall provide two (2) paid rest periods of fifteen (15) minutes each, commencing on or about mid-morning and mid-afternoon or the middle of the first half and the last half of a shift, during which time they shall continue all necessary supervision of machinery and maintenance of service.
- 20.07 Notwithstanding anything in this Article, an employee's scheduled hours of work shall not be construed as guaranteeing the minimum hours of work.

ARTICLE 21 - OVERTIME

- 21.01 An employee who is authorized to work longer than the normal hours of work stipulated in Articles 20.01 and 20.02 is entitled to overtime compensation for each completed period of fifteen minutes of overtime worked by the employee at the rate of time and one-half except as provided in sub-section (a), (b) and (c).
 - (a) Double time for all overtime worked in excess of four (4) consecutive hours on the normal working day.
 - (b) Double time for all overtime worked in excess of eight (8) consecutive hours on the first day of rest.

- (c) Double time for all time worked on the second and subsequent days of rest.
- 21.02 The Employer shall make every reasonable effort to allocate overtime work on an equitable basis among willing employees who normally perform the work. Where the scheduling of the work is within the control of the Employer, employees who are required to work overtime shall be given reasonable advance notice. An employee may, for cause, refuse to work overtime, providing the employee places the refusal in writing.
- 21.03 Overtime work will be compensated by payment not later than the pay period following the pay period in which it was earned.
- 21.04 If an employee is required to work three (3) or more hours of overtime immediately before or following the employee's standard hours of work, and because of operational requirements the employee is not permitted to leave the employee's place of work, the employee shall be supplied a meal by the Employer.
- 21.05 Employee's may accumulate up to forty (40) hours of banked time in lieu of payment of overtime. All overtime in excess of forty (40) hours banked will be paid to the employee on their next regular pay. Time off in lieu of payment of overtime shall be taken at a time mutually agreeable to the employer and the employee. Time off in lieu of overtime must be approved by the Town Manager, Works Superintendent, Administration Manager, or Recreation Manager and must be supported by the appropriate leave form. Time off in lieu of overtime payment may be taken in conjunction with annual leave.

ARTICLE 22 - PAY ADMINISTRATION

- 22.01 Employees are entitled to be paid for services rendered at the straight time rate of pay specified in Appendix "A, for the classification of the position to which they are appointed.
- 22.02 Employees shall be paid on a bi-weekly basis with pay days being every second Friday. In the event that a pay-day Friday is a paid Statutory Holiday subject to Article 23.01, then the pay day will be the Thursday immediately before the Statutory Holiday.
- 22.03 Where cheques are distributed to employees at their place of work, they shall first have been placed in sealed envelopes. Employees shall have the option of having the Employer directly deposit their pay into the Employee's account.
- 22.04 (1) When an employee is required by the Employer to perform the duties of a higher classification level on an acting basis, the employee shall be paid acting pay calculated from the date upon which the employee commenced to act as if the employee had been

appointed to that higher classification level for the period in which the employee acts. The employee required to act in a higher classification shall be paid a flat rate of one dollar and forty cents (\$ 1.40) per hour for all hours worked in the shift including overtime hours as an acting wage in addition to their regular wage. Overtime factors are not applied to the acting premium. Employees acting in a position not in the bargaining unit shall retain their rights to overtime entitlements.

- When an employee is required by the Employer to perform the duties of a lower classification level on an acting basis, the employee's rate of pay shall not be reduced.
- 22.05 Every employee who is called out by their supervisor or the Town Manager (and not merely working extended hours) and required to work in an emergency outside the employee's regular working hours shall be paid the greater of:
 - (a) Compensation at the appropriate overtime rate; or
 - (b) Compensation equivalent to four (4) hours' pay at the straight time rate.
- 22.07 An employee who is regularly scheduled to work a shift for which the majority of the hours fall outside of the 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. time period shall be paid a shift premium of one dollar and forty cents (\$ 1.40) per hour for all hours worked in the shift including overtime hours. Overtime factors are not applied to the shift premium.
- 22.08 (1) If an employee reports to work at their regularly scheduled starting time, and there is insufficient work available, the employee shall be provided with a minimum of four (4) hours work or pay in lieu thereof.
 - If an employee is directed to report for work on a day of rest or on a designated paid holiday, and there is insufficient work available, the employee shall be provided with a minimum of four (4) hours work or pay in lieu thereof, at the appropriate overtime rate.

rmanc Pay Increases

22.09 (1) An employee who holds a position for which there is a minimum and a maximum rate of pay, shall be granted a salary increment each year until the employee reaches the maximum step in the range for that position. Such salary increments are subject to the employee

- receiving a satisfactory performance appraisal. The performance appraisal of the employee shall be reviewed annually.
- Salary increments granted to an employee each year shall be effective on the employee's anniversary date of their current appointment, until the maximum in the range of rates has been reached.
- (3) When the Employer elects to withhold a salary increment, it shall advise the employee in writing prior to the due date of implementation and the employee shall have the right to grieve the withholding of the salary increment.
- 22.10 When an employee is on a leave of absence without pay, the employee is not entitled to any pay, allowances or benefits.

ARTICLE 23 - PAID STATUTORY HOLIDAYS

- 23.01 Subject to Clause 23.02, the following days shall be designated as paid holidays:
 - (a) New Year's Day
 - (b) Good Friday
 - (c) Easter Monday
 - (d) The day fixed by the Governor-General for observance of the birthday of the reigning sovereign.
 - (e) National Aboriginal Day
 - (f) Canada Day
 - (g) The first Monday in August
 - (h) Labour Day
 - (i) Thanksgiving Day
 - (i) Remembrance Day
 - (k) Christmas Day
 - (I) Boxing Day
 - (m) Any day declared a civic holiday by the Town Council, subject to the declaration being subsequently cancelled.

23.02 Article 23.01 does not apply to an employee who is absent without approved leave on either the working day immediately preceding or the working day following the designated paid holiday.

Holidays Falling on a Day of Rest

- 23.03 When a day designated as a holiday under Clause 23.01 coincides with an employee's day of rest, the holiday shall be moved to the employee's first working day following the employee's day of rest.
- 23.04 When a day designated as a holiday for an employee is moved to another day under the provisions of Clause 23.03:
 - (a) Work performed by an employee on the day from which the holiday was moved, shall be considered as work performed on a day of rest; and
 - (b) Work performed by an employee on the day to which the holiday was moved, shall be considered as work performed on a holiday.
- 23.05 When an employee works on a holiday, the employee shall be paid one and a half times (1 ½) their straight time rate of pay for all hours worked, plus pay for the holiday.

Holiday Coinciding with Day of Paid Leave

- 23.06 Where a day that is a designated holiday for an employee falls within a period of leave with pay, the holiday shall not count as a day of leave.
- 23.07 When a paid statutory holiday occurs on a Saturday or a Sunday, the holiday shall be observed on a working day continuous with the weekend. Such day to be mutually agreed upon by the Employer and the Union.

ARTICLE 24 - VACATIONS

Accumulation of Vacation Leave

- 24.01 (1) For each calendar month in which a permanent employee receives at least ten (10) days' pay the employee shall earn vacation leave at the following rates:
 - (a) One and one-quarter (1%) days per calendar month, if the employee has completed less than five (5) years of continuous employment (15 days).
 - (b) One and two-thirds (1 213) days per calendar month upon completion of five (5) years and less than ten (10) years of continuous employment (20 days).

- (c) Two and one-twelfth (2 1/12) days per calendar month upon completion of ten (I0) years and less than fifteen (15) years of continuous employment (25 days).
- (d) Two and one-half (2%) days per calendar month upon completion of fifteen (15) years of continuous employment (30 days).
- (2) By January 31 of each year, each employee's vacation record shall be credited with the anticipated annual vacation credits to be earned in that year. As an employee utilizes their vacation leave entitlement, it shall be deducted from the employee's vacation credits.
- (3) By February 1 of each year, the Employer will post a vacation planner schedule and during the month of February it is the responsibility of each employee to indicate on the planner their preferences for scheduled vacation time, for the period through mid-March of the following year. The vacation planner shall be left posted until the last day of February.
- (4) Subject to the provisions of this Article **24**, the Employer will then have regard for the preferences indicated by the employees in approving annual vacation schedules. The Employer will post the confirmed vacation schedules by mid-March.
- 24.02 Permanent employees may not receive vacation leave with pay prior to six (6) months of employment. Vacation leave entitlements will be based on the employee's personal anniversary date, and on the entitlement earned up to the time of the vacation leave applied for.
- 24.03 Subject to operational requirements, the Employer shall make every effort to grant vacation leave of up to three (3) consecutive weeks to permanent employees in accordance with the dates submitted by them to the Town Manager or their designate by no later than March 31st of the year in question. In addition, the employee may be granted up to forty (40) hours of accumulated time banked in lieu of payment of overtime consecutive with vacation leave. Where two or more employees apply for the same vacation leave and the Employer's operational requirements permit approval of only one such leave during the period in question, the leave shall be granted to the more senior employee.
- 24.04 A permanent employee shall receive the vacation leave to which the employee is entitled as leave at the straight-time rate of pay for the position to which the employee is permanently appointed. However, an employee acting in a higher level position shall receive vacation leave with pay at the acting rate provided the employee resumes the duties on an acting basis following the period of vacation leave.

- 24.05 Where an employee has been authorized to proceed on vacation leave, the Employer agrees to issue an advance payment of estimated net salary equal to the period of earned vacation leave accumulated to the date of commencement of annual leave, provided a written request for such advance payment is received from the employee at least two (2) weeks prior to the day the employee's vacation period commences.
- 24.06 Where the Employer has proposed to change, reduce or deny the vacation leave requested by the employee, the Employer shall provide the employee with the reasons, in writing, for such change, reduction or denial of vacation leave.
- 24.07 Where, in respect of any period of vacation leave, an employee:
 - (a) is granted special leave, when there is a death in the employee's immediate family, as described in Article 26.01;
 - (b) is granted special leave with pay because of illness in the family as described in Article 26.02 (a) (i);
 - (c) is granted sick leave on production of a medical certificate;

the period of vacation leave so displaced shall either be added to vacation period, if requested by the employee and approved by the Employer, or reinstated for use at a later date.

Carry-over Provision

24.08 An employee is only permitted to carry-over the vacation leave credits which the employee has earned in that vacation year to the following vacation year, except where the Employer has not granted the vacation leave requested by the employee. Annual leave credits which have been carried over and which exceed one (1) year entitlement will be liquidated in cash at the end of that subsequent vacation year.

Re from Leave

- 24.09 The Employer shall make every reasonable effort not to recall an employee to duty after the employee has proceeded on vacation leave. However, when during any period of vacation leave, an employee is recalled to duty, the employee shall be reimbursed for reasonable expenses, as normally defined by the Employer, that the employee incurs:
 - (a) in proceeding to their place of duty;
 - (b) in respect of any non-refundable deposits or pre-arrangements associated with the employee's vacation; and

in returning to the place from which the employee was recalled if the employee immediately resumes vacation upon completing the assignment for which the employee was recalled;

after submitting such accounts as are normally required by the Employer.

- 24.10 The employee shall not be considered as being on vacation leave during an period in respect of which the employee is entitled under Clause 24.09 to e reimbursed for reasonable expenses incurred by the employee.
- 24.11 When the Employer cancels or alters a period of vacation leave for a ermanent employee, which has previously been approved in writing, the Employer shall reimburse the employee for the non-returnable deposits on reservations made by the employee in respect of such leave, subject to the presentation of such documentation as the Employer may require. The employee shall make every reasonable attempt to mitigate any possible losses and shall provide proof of such action to the Employer.
- 24.12 (I) Casual employees are not eligible for vacations, but shall be paid five percent of their gross earnings.
 - (2) Probationary employees shall not be entitled to proceed on vacation during their period of probation, but during their period of probation shall accumulate vacation credits at the same rate as non-probationary employees.
 - (3) Seasonal employees shall receive vacation pay at the rate of five (5) percent of gross earnings at the end of the seasonal work period. This entitlement will continue until the seasonal employee has accumulated twelve (12) months of service. Then, for each succeeding seasonal work period or portion thereof, a seasonal employee shall receive vacation pay at the rate of six (6) percent of accumulated earnings, at the end of each seasonal period.
- 24.13 Subject to Clause 24.01, an employee shall not accrue vacation leave credits during an unpaid leave of absence.
- 24.14 Where a permanent or probationary employee dies or otherwise terminates their employment after a period of continuous employment the employee or the employee's estate shall, in lieu of earned but unused vacation leave, be paid an amount equal to the product obtained by multiplying the number of days of earned but unused vacation leave by the daily rate of pay applicable to the employee's permanent position immediately prior to the termination of the employee's employment.

The Employer shall grant the employee any vacation leave earned but not used by the employee before the employment is terminated by lay-off if the employee so requests because of a requirement to meet the minimum service requirements for severance pay.

Vacation Travel Time

24.15 Each permanent employee shall receive two (2) days leave with pay once each vacation year for the purpose of travel when taking their annual vacation, provided the employee liquidates at least five (5) days of vacation leave. These travel days are not to be accumulated from year to year unless the employee is prohibited, by the Employer, from taking their vacation in any fiscal year.

ARTICLE 25 - SICK LEAVE

- 25.01 The principle of sick leave is to provide financial support when a regular employee is unable to earn their wages due to injury, sickness and/or illness. Sick leave shall not be considered or used as time off for any reason other than injury, sickness and/or illness.
- 25.02 Permanent and probationary **employees** shall earn sick leave credits at the rate of one and one-quarter (11/4) days per month in which the employee has received pay for at least ten (10) days.
- 25.03 Sick leave earned pursuant to Article 25.02 and not used by an employee shall be accumulated from year to year, to a maximum of one hundred and twenty (120) days.
- 25.04 Sick leave payments or credits shall not be given to employees during leaves of absence, lay-offs, disciplinary suspensions, days on which the employee is otherwise paid by the Employer, maternity or child care leave, or during strikes or lockouts.
- 25.05 Seasonal and casual employees are not eligible for sick leave pay or sick leave credits.

Employee to Inform Employer

- 25.06

 multiple shall inform the Town Manager or their designate as soon as Possible of the employee's inability to report to work because of injury, illness and/or sickness and advise of the precise injury, illness and/or sickness necessitating the employee's absence.
- Unless otherwise informed by the Employer, a statement signed by an employee, describing the nature of the employee's injury, sickness and/or illness which resulted in the employee being unable to perform their duties, shall be considered as meeting the Employer's requirements, provided that the period of the absence does not exceed three (3) days.
 - (2) An employee must provide a medical certificate in the following situations:

- (a) If the employee has been absent from work for reasons of injury, sickness and/or illness for more than three (3) consecutive days;
- (b) If the employee has been absent from work for reasons of injury, sickness and/or illness for a total of more than ten (10) intermittent days during any twelve (12) month period, in which case **all** subsequent absences must be supported by a medical certificate;
- If after two (2) years an employee that has been required to provide a medical certificate pursuant to Article 26.07 (2) (b) that has taken less than ten (10) intermittent sick days in each of the previous two (2) years, the employee may request the Employer to waive this requirement.
- (3) Failure to furnish a medical certificate upon request may void the employee's claim for benefits and may, in addition, result in disciplinary penalties.
- 25.08 Sick leave payments or credits shall be given to employees during annual vacation leave only if the employee submits a medical certificate from a qualified medical practitioner certifying that such employee is unable to carry out their duties due to injury, sideness and/or illness, and the actual dates during which the employee was injured, sick and/or ill. Such certificate must be submitted to the Employer within three (3) days of the employee's return to work from the employee's vacation.
- 25.09 (1) In a case where a permanent employee has insufficient or no sick leave credit to cover the granting of sick leave with pay, at the discretion of the Employer, the employee may be granted sick leave credits in advance to a maximum of fifteen (15) days, which shall be charged against future credits earned.
 - In the event that an employee is granted advance sick leave credits and then the employees employment is terminated for any reason before the employee earns and pays back their sick leave advance, or any portion of it, then the outstanding amount of the advanced sick leave represents a debt owing by the employee to the Employer. The Employer is entitled to deduct the debt from any monies owing to the employee at the time of the termination of employment.
 - (3) Sick leave advances will not be granted to probationary employees.
- 25.10 In circumstances where an employee is entitled to receive benefits from any other source as a result of their injury, sickness and/or illness, the employee is entitled to draw on their accrued sick leave benefits only to the extent required to ensure that the total amount of the benefit received from all sources equals the employee's normal earnings.

25.11 Employees who are eligible to apply for Short Term Disability or Long-Term Disability shall apply for such benefits as soon as they are eligible.

ARTICLE 26 - SPECIAL AND OTHER LEAVE

Bereavement Leave

26.01 In the case of bereavement in the immediate family, an employee who is either actively employed or on paid vacation shall be entitled to special leave at their regular rate of pay for the employee's normal hours of work, for four (4) working days plus required travel time, following the day of the death. Such days of bereavement leave need not be either consecutive or in the same week to facilitate funerals that are delayed.

If an employee is on vacation leave at the time of bereavement, the employee shall be granted bereavement leave and be credited the appropriate number of days to vacation leave credits. This clause shall exclude casual employees. However, such employees who suffer bereavement will qualify for general leave under Article 26.05 of this Agreement.

Paid Personal Leaves of Absence

- A permanent employee, while actively employed by the Employer and not on annual vacation, sick leave, or other approved leaves of absence including maternity leave, shall, for the reasons listed below, be granted up to eight (8) cumulative paid days for personal leaves of absence during each year of this Agreement:
 - (a) Serious domestic emergencies, such as family illness or a requirement to accompany a family member to a medical or dental appointment;
 - (b) moving household effects and furniture;

The employee will endeavour to provide the Employer with as much advance notice as possible.

Leave for Birth or Adoption of a Child

(2) An employee shall be granted special leave with pay up to a maximum of one (1) working day on the occasion of the birth or adoption of a child. This leave may be divided into two parts and taken on separate days.

Marriage Leave

(3) After the completion of one year's continuous employment, a permanent employee who gives the Employer at least twenty (20) days' notice, shall be granted special leave with pay for a period of up to five (5) days for the purpose of getting married.

Leave for Court Appearances

- 26.03 (1) The Employer shall grant paid leave to employees other than employees on leave without pay who serve as jurors or witnesses in a court action, provided such court action is not occasioned by the employee's private affairs.
 - (2) In cases where an employee's private affairs have occasioned a court appearance, such leave to attend at court shall be without pay.
 - (3) An employee in receipt of their regular earnings while serving at court shall remit to the Employer all monies paid to the employee by the court, except travelling and meal allowances not reimbursed by the Employer.
 - (4) Time spent at court by an employee in their official capacity shall be at the employee's regular rate of pay.

Elections

26.04 Any employee eligible to vote in a Federal or Territorial election or a referendum shall have four (4) consecutive clear hours during the hours in which the polls are open in which to cast their ballot. Any employee eligible to vote in a Municipal election or referendum shall be granted sufficient time off from work in which to cast their ballot.

General Leave

- 26.05 (1) Notwithstanding any other provision for leave in this Agreement, the Employer may grant leave of absence without pay to any employee requesting such leave for an emergency or unusual situation. Such request is to be in writing and approved by the Employer. Approval shall not be withheld unjustly. Upon request, the Employer will provide reasons for withholding approval.
 - (2) Employees shall be granted up to two (2) hours of leave with pay to attend to an appointment during working hours with a doctor, dentist or school.
 - (3) Employees shall be granted up to four (4) hours of leave with pay per calendar year to attend to an appointment during working hours with a lawyer or bank official.

26.06 Maternity Leave/ Adoption Leave

- (1) Every employee who has completed six (6) months of continuous service with the Employer is entitled to pregnancy leave without pay up to seventeen (17) weeks, provided the employee provides the Employer with a certificate of a qualified medical practitioner certifying that the employee is pregnant. Pregnancy leave can commence not earlier than eleven (1) weeks prior to the estimated termination date of pregnancy and end not later than seventeen (17) weeks following the actual termination date of pregnancy.
- (2) Every employee who has completed six (6) months of continuous service with the Employer is entitled to parental leave without pay of thirty-seven (37) consecutive weeks where the employee will be remaining at home to care for a new born child of the employee or a child the employee has recently adopted.
- Parental leave must be taken within one (1) ear of the date of the birth of the employee's child or the date on which the child arrives at the employee's home. Where an employee is taking both pregnancy and parental leave, the employee must commence parental leave immediately on the expiration of pregnancy leave, and the total amount of pregnancy and parental leave cannot exceed fifty-two (52) weeks.
- (4) An employee who intends to take leave without pay under paragraphs ((1) or (2) shall provide the Employer with at least four (4) weeks notice in writing unless there is a valid reason why such notice cannot be given, and inform the Employer of the length of the leave intended to be taken.
- (5) With the consent of the Employer, an employee may return to work prior to the completion of pregnancy or parental leave.
- (6) A pregnant employee who is unable to perform an essential element of the employee's job, and for whom no appropriate alternative job is available may be required by the Employer to take a leave of absence without pay from employment for such time as the employee is unable to perform that essential element. The burden of proving that the employee is unable to perform an essential element of the job rests with the Employer.
- (7) When a pregnant employee produces a statement from the employee's physician that the employees' working condition may be detrimental to the employee's health or that of the foetus, the Employer will either: change those conditions; temporarily transfer the employee to another position with equal pay; or allow the employee to take a leave of absence without pay for the duration of the pregnancy.

- (8) An employee who takes parental leave and/or pregnancy leave without pay is entitled to be reinstated in the position that the employee occupied when the leave commenced. Where for any valid reason the Employer cannot reinstate an employee into the same position, the employer shall reinstate the employee into a comparable position with the same wages and benefits.
- (9) An employee who takes parental and/or pregnancy leave shall continue to accrue seniority during the period of the leave. Any period of leave shall be considered for pay increment purposes.
- (10) An employee who takes parental and/or pregnancy leave shall continue to be entitled to health and disability benefits, provided that, for the period of the leave, the employee continues to pay the employee's portion of benefits for the period of leave.

Educational Leave

- 26.07 (1) Educational leave may be granted to permanent employees to attend courses relevant to their job requirements, to a maximum of five (5) days per year, upon written application by the employees to the Town Manager, if the Town Manager so recommends.
 - The employee entitled to Educational Leave will be paid at the employee's normal regular daily rate of pay, exclusive of overtime for each day attending approved courses.
 - (2) In the event that a longer period of leave is deemed desirable by the Town Manager, additional leave may be granted at the discretion of the Town council with full or partial financial assistance at the discretion of the Town Council.
 - (3) Where an employee receives such leave with full or partial financial assistance, the employee shall be granted such leave and assistance on the understanding that, upon conclusion of the employee's leave, the employee will continue in the employment of the Employer for at least six (6) months, or the employee shall reimburse the Employer in the full amount of any financial assistance and/or wages received while on such leave.

Injury-on-duty Leave

- 26.08 A permanent employee shall be granted injury-on-duty leave with pay for such reasonable periods as may be determined by the Employer, where it is determined by the Workers' Compensation Board that the employee is unable to perform their duties because of:
 - (a) personal injury accidentally received in the performance of the employee's duties and not caused by the employee's wilful misconduct: or

(b) sickness resulting from the nature of the employee's employment;

If the employee agrees to pay the Employer any amount received by the employee for loss of wages in settlement of any claim the employee may have in respect of such injury or sickness.

ARTICLE 27 - LIFE, ACCIDENTAL DEATH & DISMEMBERMENT AND LONG TERM DISABILITY INSURANCE PLANS

- 27.01 All permanent employees shall participate in the Group Life, Accidental Death and Dismemberment and Long Term Disability Insurance Plans as arranged for by the Town of Hay River.
- 27.02 It is understood and agreed that the continued provision of the benefits contained in this Article are subject to the continued willingness of an insurance carrier to provide coverage.

 The Employer's obligation is to provide the plans specified in this article. Each benefit plan provider is responsible for making the all determinations under each plan, including determinations with respect to eligibility and entitlements to benefits.
- 27.03 It is mutually understood that from time to time modifications to the benefits outlined in this Article may occur. The Employer agrees that any substantial modifications will only be made with consent of the Union.

Continuation of Existing Benefit Plans: Dental Plan, Pension Plan, and Extended Health Benefits

- 27.04 (I) During the term of this agreement, the Employer agrees to continue to provide the permanent employees with coverage for the benefits which existed at the time that this collective agreement came into effect, under the Dental Plan, the Pension Plan, the Extended Health Benefits, the Group Life Plan, and the LTD Plan.
 - (2) During the term of this agreement, the Employer may increase these benefit levels under these plans, but cannot reduce the benefit levels.

Employer and Employee Contributions to Benefit Plan Premiums

- 27.05 (1) During the term of this agreement, the Employer and the permanent employees will continue to share the costs of the premium contributions for the maintenance of the following benefit plans:
 - (a) Life Insurance;
 - (b) Accidental Death and Dismemberment;

- (c) Dependant Life Insurance
- (2) During the term of this Agreement, the permanent employees will continue to pay the total cost of premium contributions for the maintenance of the following benefit plans:
 - (a) Long Term Disability
 - (b) Weekly Indemnity (Short Term Disability)
- Ouring the term of this Agreement, the employer and the permanent employees will continue to share the cost of premium contributions on a fifty/fifty (50/50) basis for the maintenance of the following plans:
 - (a) Extended Health Care
 - (b) Dental Care
 - (c) Pension Plan
- 27.06 The Employer shall provide to employees, upon request, the most current information available to the Employer from the benefit plan provider(s).

ARTICLE 28 - TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE

- 28.01 The parties recognize the mutual benefits and overall advantages of technological change. Therefore, the parties will encourage appropriate technological change and improvements.
- 28.02 In the event that the Employer proposes to introduce technological changes which would significantly change the employment status of the employees, the Employer will provide advance notice to the Union and the employees of such changes. At the request of the employees or the Union, the Employer will discuss the proposed changes with the objective of attempting to resolve the employment related problems and to minimize any negative effects of the changes.
- 28.03 In the event that the Employer introduces a technological change which requires affected employees to use new skills in the performance of their duties, then the Employer will provide the necessary training. (Example: clerical and secretarial employees who are required to use computer terminals will be provided with the necessary training in the use of the terminals, the computer programmes involved, and changes thereto.)

ARTICLE 29 - ALLOWANCES

Housing Allowance

29.01 All permanent employees shall receive a monthly housing allowance of four hundred and fifty dollars (\$450.00) for each calendar month for which the employee earns pay for at least ten (10) days.

Safety Boots

- 29.02 (1) An annual allowance of one hundred and fifty dollars (\$ 150.00) will be provided once per year to those employees who the Employer, the Workers Compensation Board or the Safety Act deem to require safety footwear. This allowance shall be paid once per year.
 - When a newly hired permanent employee is required to have safety boots, the employee will be reimbursed an allowance of one hundred and fifty dollars (\$150.00) upon successful completion of the employee's probationary period.

Pool Allowance

29.03 An annual allowance of up to one hundred (\$100.00) will be provided upon receipt to permanent pool staff employees for the purchase of swim wear.

ARTICLE 30 - LABOUR-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS COMMITTEE

- 30.01 The parties recognize that a forum for ongoing discussions during the term of the Agreement can promote more harmonious labour relations between them.
- 30.02 A Labour-Management Relations Committee shall be appointed consisting of two (2) employee representatives and two (2) management representatives. An employee and a management representative shall be designated as co-chairmen for each meeting. The committee shall meet on request of either party and at least four (4) times per year. Minutes of the committee meetings shall be kept.
- 30.03 Time spent by the employee representatives in attending the committee meetings shall be considered to be time worked.
- 30.04 The committee members can discuss any topics of mutual interest and concern which are related to their employment relationships, but the discussions do not constitute negotiations for the purpose of amending the collective agreement, and the committee meetings cannot deal with the adjustment of grievances.

- 30.05 In relation to the adjustment of contractual relationships, the committee is empowered only to make recommendations to the Employer and to the Union.
- 30.06 At the request of a committee member, a member of the Town Council or a non-employee representative of the Union may be invited to attend a meeting of the committee.
- 30.07 Minutes of each meeting of the committee shall be prepared and signed by the co-chairs as promptly as possible after each meeting. A copy of the minutes will be posted on the bulletin boards and a copy will be sent to the Union by the employee representatives.

ARTICLE 31 - SECURITY

Future Leaislation

31.01 In the event that any law passed by Parliament or the NWT Legislative Assembly, renders null or void or alters any provision of this Agreement, the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall remain in effect for the term of this Agreement. When this occurs this Agreement shall be reopened upon the request of either party and negotiations shall commence with a view to finding an appropriate substitute of equal value for the annulled or altered provision.

Conflict of Provisions

31.02 Where there is any conflict between the provisions of this Agreement and any regulation, direction or other instrument dealing with terms and conditions of employment issued by the Employer, the provisions of this Agreement shall prevail.

ARTICLE 32 - CASUAL EMPLOYEES

- 32.01 A Casual employee's term of employment shall not exceed four (4) months.
- 32.02 Notwithstanding 32.01 above, in exceptional or unusual circumstances, a casual employee's term of employment may be extended beyond four (4) months by mutual consent of the Employer and the Union.

ARTICLE 33- SAFETY EQUIPMENT AND UNIFORMS

33.01 Where the conditions of employment require the use of safety equipment listed below, the Employer shall make the following equipment available to employees for their use while working under conditions which necessitate its use:

- (a) welding apron:
- (b) welding goggles;
- (c) welding gloves;
- (d) dust protection mask for shop and street sweeper;
- (e) eye protection mask for bench grinder;
- (f) rubber apron for work with chemicals;
- (g) gas mask and canisters for arena, pool and sewer and water main maintenance operations:
- (h) insulated gloves for steam use, pumphouse and sewer and water division;
- (i) ear protectors for noise;
- (j) safety glasses;
- (k) hard hats:
- (I) coveralls, one pair insulated winter to employees that require them, and one pair summer per year.
- (m) work gloves- except in extenuating circumstances, each employee shall be provided with no more than two (2) pairs of gloves per year.
- 33.02 The employees are responsible for the proper use and care of equipment provided to them.
- 33.03 The Employer shall, after consultation with the employee, provide the By-Law Officer with the uniform and equipment that the Employer determines to be necessary for the performance of that employee's duties.

ARTICLE 34 - DUTY TRAVEL

- 34.01 An employee who is required to travel on Employer business will be reimbursed for reasonable expenses incurred as follows:
 - (a) Accommodations the full amount of the facility if it is approved in advance by the Employer or, if in all the circumstances, the rate is reasonable. Presentation of valid receipts is required. Where employees make arrangements for private accommodation, the employee will be paid fifty (\$ 50.00) for each night.
 - (b) Travel expenses the full amount;

- (i) if travel is by scheduled air-craft and time permits, at the excursion rate, otherwise at the full economy rate;
- (ii) if travel is by charter aircraft, at the Employers request, the actual amount of the charter cost:
- (iii) expenses claimed under (i) and (ii) hereof must be validated by appropriate documentation.
- (c) A meal and miscellaneous allowance of sixty-nine dollars and thirty-five cents (\$ 69.35) per day, pro-rated. No receipts shall be required.
- (d) Reasonable taxi charges, upon presentation of valid receipts.
- 34.02 The Employer shall make all arrangements for duty travel and accommodations.
- 34.03 Employees who are required by the Employer to travel on employer business outside of their regularly scheduled hours of work shall be paid for all hours spent travelling at their regular rate of pay.

ARTICLE 35 - CIVIL LIABILITY

35.01 The Employer will maintain insurance protection for its employees provided that its employees abide by the terms of the insurance policy and are not in breach of it thereof. This policy shall be in the form of the existing policy as made available for inspection. The Employer maintains its right to change its insurers provided that the same protection continues for employees.

ARTICLE 36 - APPRENTICES

- 36.01 Employees initially engaged as Apprentices shall be entitled, subject to the Apprenticeship, Trades and Occupations Certification Act and pursuant regulations, to the benefits, terms and conditions of this Agreement, except seniority and pay. Apprentice's rates of pay shall be calculated using the formula utilized by the Government of the Northwest Territories to pay its Apprentices.
- 36.02 Where an Apprentice fails after two attempts to successfully complete a trades training course, a recommendation may be made to the Supervisor of Apprenticeship, Trades and Occupations Certification to cancel the employee's contract and the Apprentice may be terminated.
- 36.03 Apprentices successfully completing their Apprenticeship will be given preference in hiring on job vacancies. Where an Apprentice, after completing their Apprenticeship, is hired directly into a job vacancy, all time

spent as an Apprentice shall count towards continuous employment with the Employer.

ARTICLE 37 - TERM AND DURATION OF AGREEMENT

- 37.01 The Term of this Agreement shall be from January 2002 until December 31, 2004. All provisions of this agreement shall take effect as of the date of ratification. Either party may, within four months prior to the expiry of this Agreement, by written notice, require the other party to commence collective bargaining for the purpose of renewing or revising this Agreement or entering into a new Agreement.
- 37.02 During any period when collective bargaining negotiations are being conducted between the parties to amend this Agreement, the present Agreement shall continue in full force and effect until:
 - (a) the Union commences a lawful strike; or
 - (b) the Employer commences a lawful lockout; or
 - (c) the parties enter into a new or amended Agreement.

The pay schedules shall apply from January 1, 2002.

Signed on this 17th day of January, 2002.

On behalf of the Public Service Alliance of Canada

On behalf of the Town of Hay River

Olorah McLaughlin

Deboran McLaughin

Negotiator

Public Service Alliance of Canada

Duncan McNeill

Mayor Town of Hay River

Jean-Francois Des Lauriers

REVP North

Public Service Alliance of

Canada

John Polari Town Manager

Art Loupret

Negotating Team Member

Glenn D. Tait Negotiator

Jacob Schmidt

Negotiating Team Member

Kelvin Yee'

Negotiating Team Member

APPENDIX "A" - RATE OF PAY SCHEDULES AND POSITION TITLES

ADMINISTRATION: JOB POSITION TITLES AND PAY RATE GROUPS PAY GROUPS: POSITION TITLES WITHIN THE GROUPS:

- 1 None
- 2 Customer Service Clerk Revenue Clerk
- 3 Administrative Review Clerk Payables Clerk Development Officer Building Inspector
- 4 Bylaw Officer Lands Clerk
- 5 Manager, Administration

OPERATIONS: JOB POSITION TITLES AND PAY RATE GROUPS PAY RATE GROUPS: POSITION TITLES WITHIN THE GROUPS:

- 1 Labourer Semi-skilled Labourer Equipment Operator (Water & Sewer Trainee)
- 2 Facility Maintainer I (Light Equipment Operator)
 Facility Maintainer II
 Sewer/Water Maintainer I
 Senior Guard/Instructor
- 3 Equipment Operator
- 4 Carpenter
 Aquatics Director
 Water/Sewer Maintenance
 Mechanic
- 5 General Foreman

APPENDIX "B" - RATES OF PAY

It is agreed that Rates of Pay for 2002, 2003 and 2004 are established in accordance with the following:

For Information only

Pay Grid Effective January 1, 2002

Group 5 4 3 2	Step 1 53,689 40,433 36,486 31,120 29,071	Step 2 56,450 42,798 38,538 32,893 30,725	Step 3 59,054 45,085 40,590 34,593 32,385	Step 4 61,895 47,377 42,640 36,329 33,961
Group	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	
5 4 3 2 1	64,894 49,665 44,692 38,065 35,539	68,049 51,952 46,744 39,960 37,198	71,679 54,240 48,795 41,539 38,853	

Bi-Weekly Rates Effective January 1, 2002

For Informa Group	ation only Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4
5 4 3 2 1	2,058.00 1,549.87 1,398.57 1,192.89 1,114.34	2,163.83 1,640.52 1,477.23 1,259.54 1,177.74	2,263.65 1,728.19 1,555.89 1,326.01 1,241.38	2,372.55 1,816.05 1,634.47 1,392.56 1,301.79
Group	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	
5 4 3 2	2,487.50 1,903.75 1,713.12 1,459.10 1,362.27	2,608.44 1,991.41 1,791.78 1,531.74 1,425.87	2,747.59 2,079.12 1,870.40 1,592.26 1,489.31	

Hourly	/ Rate for	37.5	Hours	per Week	Effective.	January	1. 2002
I IOGIII	, i tato ioi	0,.0	110010	POI VVOOIL		Janaan	1, 4004

Group	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4
5 4 3 2 1	27.44 20.66 18.65 15.91 14.86	28.85 21.87 19.70 16.79 15.70	30.18 23.04 20.75 17.68 16.55	31.63 24.21 21.79 18.57 17.36
Group	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	
5 4 3 2	33.17 25.38 22.84 19.45 18.16	34.78 26.55 23.89 20.42 19.01	36.63 27.72 24.94 21.23 19.86	

Hourly Rate for 40 Hours per Week Effective January 1, 2002

Group	Step ■	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4
5	25.72	27.05	28.30	29.66
4	19.37	20.51	21.60	22.70
3	17.48	18.47	19.45	20.43
2	14.91	15.74	16.58	17.41
1	13.93	14.72	15.52	16.27
Group	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	
5	31.09	32.61	34.34	
4	23.80	24.89	25.99	
3	21.41	22.40	23.38	
2	18.24	19.15	19.90	

Classification of Hourly Rates

Effective January 1, 2002

Playground Co-ordinator	14.60
Parks Supervisor	1 1.43
Tourist Booth Supervisor	14.60
Tourist Booth Attendant	12.59
Arena Assistant	9.75
Lifeguard	11.02
Assistant Lifeguard	9.75
Cashier Custodian	8.20
Casual Summer Student	14.60
with supervisory responsibilities Casual Summer Student	
	12.59
without supervisory responsibilities	

Pay Grid Effective January 1, 2003 For Information only

Group	Step ■	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4
5	54,961	57,722	60,326	63,167
4	41,705	44,070	46,357	48,649
3	37,758	39,810	41,862	43,912
2	32,392	34,131	35,865	37,601
1	30,343	31,997	33,657	35,233
Group	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	
5	66,166	69,321	72,951	
4	50,937	53,224	55,512	
3	45,964	48,016	50,067	
2	39,337	41,232	42,811	
1	36,811	38,470	40,125	

Bi-Weekly Rates Effective January 1, 2003 For Information only

Group	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4
5 4 3 2	2,106.75 1,598.63 1,447.33 1,241.64 1,163.10	2,212.59 1,689.28 1,525.99 1,308.30 1,226.50	2,312.40 1,776.95 1,604.65 1,374.77 1,290.13	2,421.30 1,864.80 1,683.23 1,441.31 1,350.54
Group	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	
5 4 3 2 1	2,536.26 1,952.51 1,761.88 1,507.86 1,411.03	2,657.20 2,040.17 1,840.54 1,580.50 1,474.62	2,796.34 2,127.87 1,919.16 1,641.02 1,538.06	

Hourly Rates for 37.5 Hours per Week Effective January 1, 2003

Group	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4
5 4 3 2 1	28.09 21.32 19.30 16.56 15.51	29.50 22.52 20.35 17.44 16.35	30.83 23.69 21.40 18.33 17.20	32.28 24.86 22.44 19.22 18.01
Group	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	
5 4 3 2	33.82 26.03 23.49 20.10 18.81	35.43 27.20 24.54 21.07 19.66	37.28 28.37 25.59 21.88 20.51	

Hourly Rates for 37.5 Hours per Week Effective January 1, 2003

Group	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4
5	26.33	27.66	28.91	30.27
4	19.98	21.12	22.21	23.31
3	18.09	19.07	20.06	21.04
2	15.52	16.35	17.18	18.02
∎	14.54	15.33	16.13	16.88
Group	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	
5	31.70	33.21	34.95	
4	24.41	25.50	26.60	
3	22.02	23.01	23.99	
2	18.85	19.76	20.51	
1	17.64	18.43	19.23	

Classification of Hourly Rates

Effective January 1,2003

Playground Co-ordinator	15.25
Parks Supervisor	12.08
Tourist Booth Supervisor	15.25
Tourist Booth Attendant	13.24
Arena Assistant	10.40
Lifeguard	11.67
Assistant Lifeguard	10.40
Cashier Custodian	8.85
Casual Summer Student	15.25
with supervisory responsibilities	
Casual Summer Student	13.24
without supervisory responsibilities	

Pay Grid Effective January 1, 2004
For Information only

Group 5 4 3 2	Step 1 56,429 43,173 39,226 33,860 31,811	Step 2 59,190 45,538 41,278 35,599 33,465	Step 3 61,794 47,825 43,330 37,333 35,125	Step 4 64,635 50,177 45,380 39,069 36,701
Group 5 4 3 2	67, 34 52,405 47,432 40,805 38,279	Step 6 70,789 54,692 49,484 42,700 39,938	Step 7 74,419 56,980 51,535 44,279 41,593	

Bi-Weekly Rates Effective January 1, 2004 For Information only

Group 5 4 3 2	Step 1 2,163.03 1,654.90 1,503.60 1,297.91 1,219.37	Step 2 2,268.86 1,745.55 1,582.26 1,364.57 1,282.77	Step 3 2,368.68 1,833.22 1,660.92 1,431.04 1,346.40	Step 4 2,477.58 1,921.07 1,739.50 1,497.59 1,406.82
Group 5 4 3 2	Step 5 2,592.53 2,008.78 1,818.15 1,564.13 1,467.30	Step 6 2,713.47 2,096.44 1,986.81 1,636.77 1,530.90	Step 7 2,852.61 2,184.15 1,975.43 1,697.29 1,594.33	

Hourly Rates for 37.5 Hours per Week Effective January 1, 2004

Group 5 4 3 2	Step 28.84 22.07 20.05 17.31 16.26	Step 2 30.25 23.27 21.10 18.19 17.10	Step 3 31.58 24.44 22.15 19.08 17.95	Step 4 33.03 25.61 23.19 19.97 18.76
Group 5 4 3 2	Step 5 34.57 26.78 24.24 20.86 19.56	Step 6 36.18 27.95 25.29 21.82 20.41	Step 7 38.03 29.12 26.34 22.63 21.26	

Hourly Rates for 40 Hours per Week Effective January 1, 2004

Group 5 4 3 2	Step ■ 27.04 20.69 18.80 16.22 15.24	Step 2 28.36 21.82 19.78 17.06 16.03	Step 3 29.61 22.92 20.76 17.89 16.83	Step 4 30.97 24.01 21.74 18.72 17.59
Group 5 4 3 2	Step 5 32.41 25.1 ■ 22.73 19.55 18.34	Step 6 33.92 26.21 23.71 20.46 19.14	Step 7 35.66 27.30 24.69 21.22 19.93	

Classification of Hourly Rates

Effective January 1, 2004	
Playground Co-ordinator	16.00
Parkš Supervisor	12.83
Tourist Booth Supervisor	16.00
Tourist Booth Attendant	13.99
Arena Assistant	11.15
Lifeguard	12.42
Assistant Lifeguard	11.15
Cashier Custodian	9.60
Casual Summer Student	16.00
with supervisory responsibilities	
Casual Summer Student	13.99
without supervisory responsibilities	

PERMANENT PART-TIME EMPLOYEES (Reference: Article 2.01 (H))

ARTICLE/SUBJECT		BJECT	<u>ENTITLEMENT</u>
	15.04	Seniority	Yes
	19.00	Job Security, Lay-off and Recall	Yes
	22.07	Shift Premium	Yes
	22.09	Performance Pay	Yes, Increments after accumulating the required equivalent annual hours.
	23.00	Statutory Holidays	Yes, with pay on a pro rata basis
	24.00	Annual Vacations	Yes, with pay on a pro rata basis
	25.00	Sick Leave	Yes, on a pro rata basis
	26.00	Special Leaves	Yes, on a pro rata basis
	27.01	Group Life	Yes
	27.04	Dental Plan	Yes
	27.04	Pension Plan	Yes
	27.04	Extended Health Benefits	Yes
	29.01	Housing Allowance	Yes, on a pro rata basis

CASUAL EMPLOYEES (Reference: Article 2.01 (H))

ARTICLE/SUBJECT		<u>ENTITLEMENT</u>	
15.04	Seniority	No	
19.00	Job Security, Lay-off and Recall	No	
22.07	Shift Premium	Yes	
22.09	Performance	Yes, after accumulating the required equivalent hours	
23.00	Statutory Holidays	Yes, per NWT Labour Standards Act	
24.00	Annual Vacations	Paid per 24.12	
25.00	Sick Leave	No	
26.00	Special Leaves	No, but eligible under 26.05	
27.01	Group Life	No	
27.04	Dental Plan	No	
27.04	Pension Plan	No	
27.04	Extended Health Benefits	No	
29.01	Housing Allowance	No	

SEASONAL EMPLOYEES (Reference: Article 2.01 (H))

ARTICLE/SUBJECT		<u>ENTITLEMENT</u>
15.04	Seniority	No
19.00	Job Security, Lay-off and Recall	No
22.07	Shift Premium	Yes
22.09	Performance	Yes. after accumulating the required equivalent annual hours.
23.00	Statutory Holidays	Yes
24.00	Annual Vacations	Paid per 24.12(3)
25.00	Sick Leave	No
26.00	Special Leaves	No, but eligible under 26.05
27.01	Group Life	No
27.04	Dental Plan	No
27.04	Pension Plan	No
27.04	Extended Health Benefits	No
29.01	Housing Allowance	No

PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEES (Reference: Article 2.01 (r)

ARTICLE/SUBJECT		<u>ENTITLEMENT</u>
15.04	Seniority	No
19.00	Job Security, Lay-off and Recall	No
22.07	Shift Premium	Yes
22.09	Performance	No
23.00	Statutory Holidays	Yes
24.00	Annual Vacations	Paid per 24.12 (2)
25.00	Sick Leave	Yes
26.00	Special Leaves	Yes
27.01	Group Life	No
27.04	Dental Plan	No
27.04	Pension Plan	No
27.04	Extended Health Benefits	No
29.01	Housing Allowance	Yes

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

BETWEEN

THE MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER, NWT (hereinafter called the "Employer")

- and -

THE UNION OF NORTHERN WORKERS

(hereinafter called the "Union")

BY-LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER - PROVISIONS FOR COMPENSATORY LEAVE AND FLEXIBLE HOURS OF WORK

The Parties recognize that the nature of the position of By-Law Officer requires flexibility in the scheduling of hours of work in order to perform the duties of the position and agree as follows:

1) Definitions

The following definitions shall apply:

- (a) "By-Law Officer" means the employee of the Employer, employed in the position of By-Law Enforcement Officer appointed as a By-Law Officer within the meaning of the <u>Cities, Towns & Villages Act</u>, R.S.N.W.T. 1988, c. C-8, as amended;
- (b) "Collective Agreement" means the agreement entered into between the Employer and the Union;
- (c) "Job Description" means the position description for the By-Law Enforcement Officer established by the Employer.

2) Hours of Work

In order to meet the operational requirements of By-Law Enforcement, By-Law Officers may not always be able to work the normal work week of five (5) work days followed by two (2) days of rest, or a normal work day of 7.5 hours, and may sometimes work in excess of five (5) consecutive days in one week, or 7.5 hours in one day.

Because of this By-Law Officers are allowed flexibility:

a) in scheduling their work week on an irregular basis;

b) in scheduling their work day on an irregular basis.

3) Compensatory Hours

- a) Where the By-Law Officer works more than the standard hours of work over a period of twenty-eight (28) calendar days, he/she shall be entitled to one compensatory hour off, with pay, for each extra hour worked (herein called "compensatory hour"). The By-Law Officer must make every reasonable effort to schedule their work hours to minimize extra hours worked.
- b) Compensatory hours must be taken at a time mutually agreeable to both the By-Law Officer and the Employer and they must be used in the same fiscal year in which they are earned. Where the By-Law Officer has applied to take earned compensatory hours and the employer denies the leave requested the compensatory hours applied for will be paid to the By-law Officer as follows, for each day:
 - (i) time and one half for the first four hours applied for, and;
 - (ii) double time for all hours applied for in excess of four hours.
- c) When applying to take compensatory hours the By-Law Officer shall endeavour to ensure that such time will not negatively affect operational requirements.
- d) The By-Law Officer shall be entitled to carry forward compensatory hours up to fifteen (15) times the standard daily hours of work from one fiscal year to the next.
- e) At the end of each fiscal year all compensatory hours over fifteen (15) times the standard daily hours of work shall be liquidated in cash at the normal hourly rate of pay.
- f) The By-Law Officer shall provide the Town Manager, not less than once every two (2) weeks with details of all compensatory hours worked.
- g) It is understood that this agreement is not intended to be used on an "ad hoc basis" to meet operational requirements or to avoid the payment of over-time to the By-Law Officer.

4) Application of Collective Agreement

The Parties acknowledge and agree that all terms and provisions of the Collective Agreement between the Employer and the Union apply, except as they are modified by the terms of this Memorandum.

5) Enforcement

a) This Memorandum forms part of the Collective Agreement and shall be enforceable under the terms of the Collective Agreement between the Employer and the Union, the laws of the Northwest Territories and applicable Federal laws.

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

BETWEEN

THE MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER, NT

(hereinafter called the "Employer")

and -

The Public Service Alliance of Canada as represented by its Component THE UNION OF NORTHERN WORKERS

(hereinafter called the "Union")

CASUAL SUMMER STUDENT EMPLOYMENT

The parties recognize and agree it is beneficial to encourage the employment of students, and that there may be a need for casual employment during the summer months to meet the operational requirements of the Employer. For this purpose, the Employer may hire up to six Casual Summer Student Employees annually in accordance with the following terms:

- 1. "Causal Summer Student Employee" means a casual employee hired between the period of May 15th and September 15th annually, such employee having attending high school or a post-secondary institution prior to hiring and intending to attend a post-secondary institution following employment.
- 2. "Hours of Work" shall be 8 hours per day, 5 days per week.
- 3. "Rates of Pay" shall be:
 - Rates of Pay shall be as specified in Appendix 'B' in the Collective Agreement.
- 4. It is understood that employment of Casual Summer Student Employees will not result in the lay-off of any bargaining unit employees.
- 5. It is further understood and agreed by the parties hereto the Casual Summer Student Employees shall be classified as Casual Employees in

- the Bargaining Unit as described in Section 2.01 (h) and entitlements as shown on pages 115 through 117 of the Collective Agreement.
- 6. The parties agree that this Memorandum of Understanding shall form part of the Collective Agreement between the Employer and the Union. Except as provided herein, the parties agree that the provisions of the Collective Agreement shall apply to Casual Summer Student Employees.

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

BETWEEN

THE MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER, NT

(hereinafter called the "Employer")

- and-

The Public Service Alliance of Canada as represented by its Component THE UNION OF NORTHERN WORKERS

(hereinafter called the "Union")

- 1. Employees who do not use any sick leave during any one fiscal year shall, at the end of the fiscal year, receive a bonus of one hundred (\$100.00) dollars.
- 2. This Memorandum of Understanding shall remain in effect for the period of January 1, 2002 until December 31, 2004 and shall expire on that date.

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PUBLIC SERVICE ALLIANCE OF CANADA AND THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER

In the event that there is a reorganization of the Town of Hay River employees, and a fourth director position is established, the Public Service Alliance of Canada and the Town agree to jointly make an application to the Canada Industrial Relations Board to amend the certification order which is in place.

The order would be amended to make the fourth director position as a position excluded from the bargaining unit, and to update the titles of other employees excluded from the bargaining unit.

Dated this 17th day of January, 2002

On behalf of the Public Service Alliance of Canada

On behalf of the Town of Hay River

Deborah McLaughlin

Negotiator

Public Service Alliance of Canada

Duncan McNeill

Mayor Town of Hay River

Jean-Francois Des Lauriers

REVP North

Public Service Alliance of Canada

John Pollard Town Manager

Art Loupret
Negotiating Team Member

Glenn D. Tait Negotiator

Regotiating Team Member

Kelvin Yee

Negotiating Team Member